ABANDONED TOWNS, VILLAGES AND POST OFFICES
OF IOWA

By Davip C. MoTr

The Historical Department for a long time has had need of a
list of abandoned towns, villages and post offices of the state,
with their locations. Such a list we have conceived would add
to the geographical and historical information of early Iowa,
and would enable us to more intelligently answer questions which
have many times gone unanswered. We hope such a list pub-
lished in the ANNALs may be of similar help to those: working
in the libraries of the state to which this publication goes.

Our purpose is to list only those places that have been aban-
doned, and thus help to keep their names and memories from
oblivion. Every country post office, hamlet, village or town that
has passed away wés, during its existence, of importance to its
surrounding country. Some of these ghost towns were impor-
tant business centers in pioneer days. Some had milling inter-
ests, both grain and lumber, others were simply trading and in-
dustrial centers. Their downfall came because of different rea-
sons—the failure of water power, the waning of navigation of
our inland rivers, the coming of railroads which so often missed
these towns, the coming of the automobile which made travel
and transportation speedier and easier, the coming of rural mail
service, and many other things included in the evolution from
pioneer times and conditions to the present. The blasted hopes
of many an ambitious village bring a sense of regret. Many a

Sweet Auburn, lovliest village of the plain

is now a meadow or a corn field, with no trace of its former busy
life.

No busy steps the grass-grown footway tread,
For all the blooming flush of life is fled.

Scanning the names the pioneers gave these places furnishes
a glimpse into the life of those times. These early settlers drew
heavily on nature as suggested by thejr surrggndings. Witness
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Iveyville, Paint Rock, Beetracc, and Muddy. They played with

the word ‘prairie” in.many . ‘ways, such as Prairie Hill, Mid-
Prairic and Pleasant Prairie. The word “grove” entered into

endless formations such as Hickory Grove, Shady Grove, and

Turkey Grove. Their belief that they had achieved their fond-

est hopes is sometimes indicated by such names as Eden, Para-

dise, and Tranquility.. Domestic aff¢ctions; had a. part.in many

selections, as Janetown, Eliza, Elvira, and Annieville. Romance -
and .interest run clear through the whole list of these pioneer.
places. A name.always had a meaning to them.

As we have said, we are attempting only to give the names and -

locations of these abandoned places. We have also included _
names of towns that have been dropped. for present day names,.
such as Montana, now called Bogne. TFacts as to dates are given,,
when possible. The United States Official Register from the time
Towa became a territory, 1838, until 1885, and the United States -
Postal Guide after that date have been the. principal autherities. .
as to the dates of the post offices. Many of the several county
histories yield valuable information on the subject. The large .
number of maps, reaching from territorial times to the present,, -
have aided in fixing locations. In several instances kind friends. .
of the Historical Department have aided in their respective coun- .
ties. We only claim for this survey such accuracy as. was: made ,
possible by the authorities at-hand. 1

~ ADAIR COUNTY

Apamr. In the southeastern part of section 4, Washington Township.
Post office. 1855-73. ’ ‘ ‘

Avonvare. - In the northwestern part of section 13, Washington :
Township. Post office, 1875-81.

Berea. In section 18, Eureka Township. Post office, 1897-1903.

CarsoNpare. In the southwesterh part of section 33, Summit Town-
ship. Plat of the town filed in 1892. :

Giiean. In section 36, Washington Township. Post oﬁice, 1900

Groveranp. In section 28, Grove Township. Post office, 1870-85.

Hornapay’s. In section 27, Jefferson. Township. Post office, 1855-97.

Jackson. In section 5, Jackson Township. Post office, 1869-85.

Leara Crry. In sections 20 and 21, Union Townshlp Plat filed in
1902.

Lemoxnt. In the southwestern part of section 31, Grove Townshl_p,,
as shown on maps of 1875-80. It never got farther than a town on

paper.

AN
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Lixwoon. In section 3, Summit Township, as shown on maps of 1905.

McKiviey. Listed in U. 8. Postal Guide of 1900 as a post office in
Adair County, but not found on maps of that period.

Max~cnester.  In section 8, Harrison Township.’ Plat filed in 1855,
. Naxtro. In section 16, Grand River Township. Post office, 1900-03.
" Prussia. In section 14, Prussia Township. Post office, 1900-03.
" Prussta Cextikr, Ini section 27, Prussia "Township, as shown on maps
of 1881. T '
' "Sommerser. The orlgmal name of the present town of Fontanelle.
Platted in 1855 ana name changed to Fontanelle in 1857.

Vivo. In section 24, ‘Richland Township. Post office, 1873- 75,

" Wantawwair, In section 13, Grove Township. Post office, 1851-54.
Name changed to Holaday’s (which see above) and location changed.

ADAMS COUNTY
““Briscoe. In northern part of section 3, Lincoln ‘Township. Post
office, 1881-1903.
' Brookvirin. The former name of the present town of Brooks.

Cavaan. In section 7, Jasper Townslup Post oﬁice, 1857 60. Name
changed to Simpson in 1860,

Carsox. A platted village “in sectloh 1 Do'uglas '.[‘ownsliip, as
shown on maps of 1875. . ‘ : : :

Easr Novaway. In section 21, Noda\vay Townsllip. Post office, 1869-
1875," then ngme changéd to Rochelle. ' Soon thereafter changed to
Nodaway. : ’

Evrexa. In section 83, Washington Township. Post office, 1881-1900.

~Haves. In'section 15, Lincoln Township. Post office, 1881-1903. °
- Hovr. In section 27, Douglas 'Township. Post office, 1889-1900,

Tcaria. In section 31, Prescott Township. A village two miles east
of the present city.of Corning. Post oﬂice, 1855-57.

Ivevviire. In section 81, Jasper T wnsh]p Post office, 1885-1903, °

Merceir. - In' section 16, Mercer Township. - Post office, 1893-1900.

Mr. WasstNaroN. - In sectlon 25 Washlngton Townshlp Post office,
1863 67. : . - :

. Queen Crrv, A v111age in sections 25, Quinéy Township, and 30,
Prescott Township, about two miles northcast of the present city- of
Corning. - Past office, 1859-69. :

QUI\'CY In the northwestern part of section 17, Quincy Township:
A prospetous “village and’ the first county seat. -Post-office, 1855-1900,

Rocuerie. Formerly called East Nodaway Post oﬂ‘ice, 1876. Ndme
changed to Nodaway.

Suin~. In section 12, Douglas Townslup Post office, 1885.

Staeson, Formerly Canaan (see dbOVC) Post office, 1861-69. The
present town of Brooks.

; Stranp, Ii section 82, Lincolu:.Township.» Post office, 1889-1908.

R T

e LAY
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ALLAMAKEE COUNTY

Artamakee. South of the mouth of Paint Creek, section 10, Fair-
view Township. Platted as a town in 1858, but soon Abandoned. Post
office, 1859-1877.

Arron. In section 1, French Creek Township, near where French
. Creek flows into the Upper Iowa River. Village platted in 1858, only a
few lots.sold, and no town built. )

Buckraxp. In southern part of section 16, Linton Township. Town
laid out in 1858. Plat vacated in 1881. Post office, 1878-92.

Buxxker Hor. In'southern part of section 24, Linton Township. In
1860 that section was set over into Fairview Township. Post office,
1853-55, when the name was changed to Ion.

Carorr. Two miles southeast of Lansing on the Mississippi. Post
office, 1853-67.

Canrvers. Shown in northwestern part of Union City Township on
maps of 1855-57.

Center VaLLey. In southern part of Waterloo Township. Post
office, 1857. ’ .

CuaxtrY. In the northeastern part of section 12, Lafayette Town-
ship. Platted in 1857. Was an embryo town site on the Mississippi.

Crear Creex. In section 384, Union City Township. Post office,
1857-79.

CLEvELAND. On east side of section 1, Post Township. Platted in
1856. Post office, 1857-63. )

Corumeus. At a landing on the Mississippi at the mouth of Village
Creek, two miles below Lansing. Often called Capoli, which see above.
Columbus was the first county seat of Allamakee County, from 1851 to
its removal to Waukon in 1853. Platted in 1852.

Connor. In southeastern part of section 7, Union Prairie Town-
ship. Post office, 1893-1903.

Darsv. In section 85, Center Township. Post office, 1869-85.

Ecax. In section 2, Linton Township. Post office, 1900-1903.

Evpergrove. In section 8, Taylor Township. Post office; 1897-03.

Faxpon. In the north-central part of Jefferson Township. Post
office, 1863-65. ' ,

Foresr Miuis (formerly called Werhan's Mill). In section 5, Frank-
lin Township. Post office, 1881-1900.

Frexcu Creex. In section 2, French Creek Township. Post office,
1855-1903.

GrantviLie. In the eastern part of Ludlow Township. Post office,
1860.-

Haxover. In section 31, Hanover Township. Post office, 1875-85.

Hammix. In the extreme southwest corner of Franklin Township and
partly in Clayton County, on the military road from McGregor to Fort
Atkinson. A town of importance. Began to be settled in 1848 and was
platted in 1854. Post office, 1851-65.
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Howaro Cexter. In section 18, Lafayette Township. Platted in
1854, adjoining Milton on the north.

Jounsonsporr. At the point of an important landing on the Missis-
sippi. A town was laid out on the river front of the north half of sec-
tion 15, Fairview Township, in 1856.

Lark. In Taylor Township. Post office, 1881-89.

Laraverre. In the northern part of section 2, Lafayette Township,
on the Mississippi River about a mile above Chantry. It had a boat
landing, sawmill and stores.

Luprow. In section 10, Ludlow TOWnShlp Post office, 1869-75.

Lypraxn. In section 15, Post Township. The village was platted in
1851, and was prosperous for a time. Post office, 1853-67.

Ly~pare. In the northwestern part of section 28, Center Township.
Post office, 1930-1903.

Maxkee. In section 18, Makee Township. Post office, 1853-67.

MaxcHesTER. Sometimes called Manchester Mills. In .section 6.
Franklin Township. The town was close to the Post Township line and
to its sister town of Cleveland. The two towns made a milling center
on the Yellow River. Platted in 1859.

Mariner’s Hope. In the northern part of Jowa Township. Post
office, 1861-63.

Mmron. In section 18, Lafayette Township. Laid out in 1854. This
was a milling center on Village Creek, with Howard Center adjoining
on the north and the village of Village Creek adjoining on the east.

Myrow. In section 8, Post Township. Village platted in 1873. Post
office, 1869-93.

New Garewa. In section 1, Hanover Township, on the Upper Iowg
River. Platted in 1857, but never recorded. At that time thought to
have rich lead ore deposits. Post office, 1859-63.

Mezexa. In section- 84, Fairview Township. On the Mississippi just
south of the mouth of the Yellow River. Laid out in 1856. Post office,
1859-63.

Nortr Carorr. On the Mississippi about a mile northwest of Colum-
bus and just south of Lansing, and now within the corporzite limits of
that town. Platted in 1858.

Parxr Crexk Variey. Post office, 1855. Name changed to Water-
ville. ’

Painr Rock. In the southern part of Taylor Township. Post office,
1853-517.

Reen’s Rmer. In section 26, Hanover Township, Post office, 1873-75.

Syrruriesn.  In the northwestern part of section 24, Franklin Town-
ship, on the Yellow River. Platted in 1854 and both sawmills and grist-
mills flourished there for some years.

Sterna.  In section 26, Ludlow Township. Post office, 1897,

Tom Corwix. The name of the post office at Johnsonsport im 1851,

Union Pramrie, In the northwestern part of section 26, Unlon
Prairie Township. Post office, 1851-69,
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Virace Creex. In section 18, Lafayette Township (see Milton).
Post office, 1859-1903. One store still remains.

VorLxey., In section 18, Franklin Township, on Yellow River about
a mile below Smithfield. Was devoted to milling business. Laid out in
1856. Post office, 1853-1903. .

Voss. Listed in the U. 8. Postal Guide from 1889 to 1903 as a post
office in Allamakee County, but the name is not found on maps of that
period. .

Warson. In southwestern part of Linton Township. Post office,
1875-81. :

‘Wesster. Listed in the U. 8. Official Register of 1851 as a post
office in Allamakee County, but not found on maps of that period.

‘Wexrorn. In the southeast corner of the east section 6, Taylor Town-
ship. Post office, 1851-61.

Wmow Posr. In section 29, Post Township. Shown on maps of
1855-56.

‘Wirson’s Forp. In the southwestern part of Taylor Township. Post
office, 1857-63.

APPANOOSE COUNTY

Aipaxy. On east line of séction 1, Union Township. A prosperous
village in the sixties. Had a post office from 1857 to 1860 when it was

transferred to the portion of the village on the east side of the road,
which placed it in Davis County.

Berrrace. Near center of section 32, Washington Township. Post
office, 1859-85. _

Brrram. In the northern part of the southwest section of Bellair
"Township, section 18, Township 68 north, range 18 west. It was platted
in'1854. The building of the railroad town of Numa about a mile to the
south in 1871 transferred the business to that place.

Carpwerr Crry. In the eastern part of section 32, Caldwell Town-
ship. A post office was established in 1857 and the town was laid out in’
1873. In 1879 the name of the town and post offiec was changed to
Exline.

Carmouw. A post office listed in U. S. Official Reegister, 1855-57, but
not found on maps of that period. ‘
. Campex. A post office listed in U. 8. Postal Guide of 1881, but not
found on maps of that period.

Cuarpea. The pioneer name of Centerville. Platted in 1846. The
post office was Chaldea from 1846 to 1847 when the name of the post
office and town was changed to Centerville,

Crere. A post office in Johns Township, 1880-83, as listed in the U.
8. Postal Guide, but not found on maps of that period.

Darnyvrire, An embryo village in section 1, Walnut Township. Post
office, 1894-1910.

Davron. Shown on maps of 1862 in northern part of Douglas Town-
ship.

oA
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Dexxis. A post office in western part of Douglas Township, 1863-90.

Dirr. Post office listed in U. 8. Postal Quide, 1887-1910. Now known
as Sedan.

Evzaserarown. In the southeastern part of section 15 and the
northeastern part of section 22, township 68 north, range 16 west.
Platted in 1867, but soon thereafter was incorporated into and became
a part of the town of Moulton.

ForpusH. A coal mining town about four miles north of Centerville.
Post office, 1894-1903.

GRIFFINSVILLE. An embryo village in southern part of section 23
Independence Township. Postoffice, 1869-1900.

HisssviLLe. Near the northeast corner of Franklin Township.. It
was laid out in 1852 and prospered as a village until the coming of
nearby railroads. Post office, 1854-1900.

Hnwrow~. In the southern part of section 16, Wells Township, one-
half mile from the state line. A former hamiet dependent on milling
and coal mining. Known on the records as Pleasant View, with a post
office named Wells Mills. :

Icontum. At the center of section 5, Chariton Township. Platted in
1854 and a prosperous village until railroads came nearby. Post office,
1853-1903. -
Jonxs Posr Orrice. Shown on maps 1856 in western part of the
county. . v L
Jouxnstox Posr Orrrce. In southwestern part of Johns Tawnship,
Post office, 1859-63. : L

Kemicara., In Wells Township. Post office, 1903, -

Kmxwoon. In central part of Sharon Township. Post office, ]873—
1900, B

LaxeviLre. In southeastern part of section 29, Bellair Township. A
coal mining town. i

Lepaxon. In section 5, Lincoln Township, as shown on maps of 1857

LEeTowN., A coal mmmg town near Brazil. .

Leowa. Near the central part of section 2, Wells Townslnp Platted
in 1858, but never built up.

LivixesroNe. In central part of Franklin Township. Post oﬂice,
1858-1900.

MarpEnsviLLe. Post office listed in U. S. Postal Guide of 1894-, but
not found on maps of that period.

Mempuis. In central part of Johns Township. Post office, 1857-67.

* MirLarp Post OrrFice. Shown on Henn-Williams map of 1855 in east
part of Caldwell Township. S

MriLepceviLie. Near center of section 10, Independence Township.
The village was founded in 1857 and prospered until the coming of
nearby railroads. Post office, 1857-1900.

Moux~t Grieap Post Orrice. Shown on maps from 1857 to 1862, In
central part of Independence Township.
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New Hoee. In the east part of section 28, Caldwell Township. A
town was laid out in 1857, but never materialized.

New Praixs Posr Orrice. Shown on maps of 1856 in central part
of Washington Township.

. N1Les Posr Orrice. Listed in U. 8. Postal Guide of 1851, but not
found on maps of that period.

OrLeans. In southeastern corner of section 85, Washington Town-
ship. The village was laid out in 1851 and flourished until about 1870.
Post office, 1860-87.

‘OrviLLE. A mining town in Walnut Township established in 1892
with a post office named Clarkdale.

Peart Crry. A hamlet with a coal mine in section 22, Pleasant Town-
ship. Post office, 1894-1903.

Preasant View. Same as Hilltown.

PressaNTviLLE. Another name for Pleasant View. See Parker’s
map, 1856. : '

Ray. The name of the post office at Maine, section 18, Taylor Town-
ship. Post office, 1892-1903.

Ristve Sux. In southeast part of Udell Township as shown on maps
of 1868,

S1aroN. In the northeast part of section 33, Sharon Township. This
village was laid out in 1856 and was on the west side of the Chariton
River, and not in the same location as the later station of the same name
on the east side of the river. The post office was from 1851 to 1859.

SmamrpsToN. A post office listed in U. 8. Postal Guide of 1892, but
not located on the maps of that period.

SuawviLLE., A coal mining town of Pleasant Township.

STreEPYVILLE. A coal mining town of Pleasant Township.

TranqurLLrry. In southeastern part of section 16, Johns Township.
Post office, 1871-79.

WaLNur Crry.  In the northwestern part of Walnut Township. Never
more than a hamlet and neighborhood center. Post office, 1867-97.

Waisua. Post office listed in U. S. Postal Guide, 1890-97.

WerrLano, In southeast corner of Franklin Township. Post office,
1859-63. ) , ’ ’

WeLrs Mmes, The post office, 1851-71, at Hillstown, which see.

AUDUBON COUNTY

AvunuroN Cexter. In northeastern part of section 2, Hamlin Town-
ship. Post office, 1867. Later the word “Center” was dropped, the post
office continuing as Audubon until 1871,

Avpuson Crry. In section 1, Hamlin Township. Platted in 1856. Tt
attained to one store, a residence and a schoolhouse, and then failed.

AvupusoN Hereurs. In the southeastern part of Greeley Township.
Post office, 1879.

Barraro Posr Orrice. In southeast part of Oakfield Township, as
shown on Parker’s map, 1856, ' )
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CrviL Pornt. In section 23, Audubon Township. Post office, 1879-81.

Coxnkring. In section 23, Greeley Township. Post office, 1881-93.

Dayron. In southwestern part of section 15, Exira Township.
Platted in 1855, it became the first county seat, and remained such until
- 1861, when Exira won the prize. It contained only two buildings.

Fiscus. In section 12, Douglas Township. Post office, 1889-1903.

Grove. In southeastern part of Exira Township. Post office, 1873-85.

Hamuin, In sections 1 and 2, Hamlin Township. Laid out in 1872.
It was beautifully located, had a hotel, several stores, residences, ete.,
was defeated for the county seat in 1873 and soon declined.

Hamruixy Grove. In southeastern part of Exira Township. Post office,
1855-71.

Horace. In section 17, Greeley Township. Post office, 1879-93.

Irwin. In southern part of section 1, Leroy Township. Post office,
1871-75. ’ :

Jomes. In section 1, Audubon Township. Post office, 1877-1903.
Larranp. In eastern part of Melville Township. Post office, 1893-
1900. :

Leroyviire, sometimes called Le Roy Post Office. In northwestern
part of section 24, Leroy Township. Post office, 1871-75,

Lovursviiie. In section 17, Exira Township. Platted in 1866 and for
a few years was the busiest village in the county. Declined about 1874.
Post office, 1873-75.

MerviLie. In central part of Melville Township. Post office, 1878-89.

Oaxriern, In southwest part of section 20, Exira Township. It was
platted about 1855, soon had mills, stores and was a thriving town until
1868 when it began to decline. Post office, 1859-75.

Popranr. In section 6, Sharon Township. Post office, 1893-1903.

Tuomresox. In central part of Cameron Township. Post office,
1893-97.

Viora Center. In section 21, Viola Township. Post office, 1881-1900.

-

BENTON COUNTY

Bexron. Former name of the present town of Garrison.

Benrox Center, Near the southeast corner of Big Grove Town-
ship. Post: office, 1869.

BexTton Crry. In the southwestern part of scction 20, Benton Town-
ship, just south of the Cedar River. The plat was filed in 1856. 'The
B. C. R. & N, bullt in 1869, missed it, after which it declined. Post
office, 1854-59.

Berkerey. In Florence Township, about one mile east of the pres-
ent town of Norway, as shown on maps of 1863.

Beurau (Late Potato Hill). In northwestern part of Canton Town-
ship. Post office, 1857. :

Brookry~N. On both sides of the line between  Benton and Black
Hawk counties, Surveyed in 1856 and plat filed in 1857. Not shown on
maps. Seems not to have materialized.
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Buckeve. In Jowa Township, about three miles east of Belle Plaine.
Post office, 1862-67.

Burke. In section 11, Harrison Township. Post office, 1853 89

Dacoerr. In southwestern part of Jackson Township, as shpwn ,on
maps of 1863. Post office, 1860.

Epes. A hamlet in southwest corner of section 1, Eden 'Townshlp,
as shown on maps of 1875.

Frorence. In section 20, Florence Towns]up Post office, 18{5;3:775.
Name changed to Norway. .

FremonT. In 1849 the county seat was removed to a. locatxon whlch
is now in the northern part of the present city of thon A town was
laid out there and named Fremont. This name was changed to thon
in 1853. :

GeNeva. A hamlet in western part of section 3, Blg Grove Townshlp,
as shown on maps of 1862-75. W

Gureseie. In Eldorado Township. Post office, 1889-93. . '

GomerarL. In northern part of Big Grove ’lownshlp Post oﬂice,
1858-64. s

Graxp Gurr. In the southeast quarter of section 17, Taylor Town-
ship. Surveyed in 1854 Now included in the northwe_stern p‘a‘rt,‘_of...ytl,)q:
city of Vinton.

Guinnvitie. In the southeastern part of the northeast quarter of
section 30, Iowa Township. Platted in 1856. Post oﬂ‘i(.e, 1856 61
the laying out of Belle Plaine in 1860 this village declmed .

Hooster Pornt. In the northeast quarter of section ‘34, Polk TOWn-
ship. Later called Marysville, which see below.

InviNe. In the northwest quarter of section 6, Iowa Townshlp Es—
tablished about 1860. A part of this busy village was over the coqnty
line to the west, in Tama County. The original v1llage has dlsappeared
See Axw~ars or Jowa, Vol. XV, pp. 536-41. .

Lixwoon. In southwestern part of Florence Township. Post oﬁice,
1856-63.

Lonpon. In southern part of Fremont Township. Post office, 1861-
64. Name changed to Robin.

Maxaraeka. In sections 26 and 35, Polk Townslnp It was platted
in 1857, was adjoining Marysville on the east and ‘was c0n51dered_ an
addition to that town. - :

MarysvitLe. In the northeast quarter of sectlon 34, Polk Towns]np
(See Hoosier Point). Marysville was platted in 1847, the first town
laid out in the county. Post office, 1848 to 1857, when the name of the
post office and town was changed to Urbana. -

Norrrrorr. The original county seat, selected and named in 1846
Plat was not filed until 1848 when the name was changed to Vinton.
Now included in the eastern part of the present city of Vinton. .

Pavr. In southwest corner of section 6, Homer Township. Post'
office, 1857-65.
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“Prexiwiy. In southwestern part of Union Township. Post office,
1857-65. .

" Poraro Hrir. In northwestern part of Canton Township. Post office,
1801 52. Namc changed to Beulah, which see above.

lenur Cnm x Post Orrice. In southwestern part of Towa Township,
Just north of the Iowa River, as shown on maps of 1855-57, but it ap-
pears in southeastern part of the township on G. W. and C. B. Colton’s
map of 1868.

Ropiw. In southern part of section 26, Fremont Township. Post’
oﬂice, 1865-81.

'RocervitLe. In southeastern part of Homer Township. Post office,
1893-97.

SPENLLR Grove. Given by History of Benton County, Western His-
torlpal Co., 1878, as one of the post offices of the county in 1867, but not
found on maps of that period.

SumMERs. In northwestern part of Fremont Township. Post office,
1873. '

TAYLORS Grove. In southeastern part of St. Clair Township. Post
oﬁice, 185463,

Terry. In Big Grove Township. Post office, 1885.

. Uprry.. In northeastern part of Eden Township. Post office, 1858-69.

‘Witurans. In the southwestern part of Eldorado Township. Post
office, 1858-65.

WiusNeroN. In the south section 4 of Benton Township. Surveyed
in 1855 and plat recorded in 1858. Town seems not to have materialized.

Woons. In central part of Monroe Township. Post office, 1857-63.

TR BLACK HAWK COUNTY

Barcray. In northern part of section 13, Barclay Township. Laid
out in 1854 and became prosperous, but dwindled when the Illinois Cen-
tral built three miles to the south. Post office, 1855-89.

‘Brakevinie, In the northeast corner of section 26, Bennington Town-
ship. Post office, 1856-97.

Bresstne. In section 35, Lincoln Township. Post office, 1897-1900.

Brookiy~N. On the Black Hawk-Benton county line in Spring Creek
Township. Surveyed in 1860, but not built up.

Carvin. In northwestern part of section 22, Orange Township. Post
office, 1897.

- Canrienp.  In section 21, Barclay Township. Post office, 1889-93.

Cepar Crry. In south half of section 6, Township 89, range 13, north-
east of the Cedar River. It was platted in 1856 and was a town of some
importance, having a population of about 200, but on the coming of the
railroad to Cedar Falls it gave way to that city.

Cepar Varrey. In section 38, Cedar Township, about three miles
below Washburn., Post office, 1856-81.

Crarxy Creek. In northeastern part of section 4, Bennington Town-
ship. Post office, 1893-1908.
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Epwarps. In eastern part of section 33, Bennington Township. Post
office, 1893-1900.

Eviza. In the south section 15 of Cedar Township, near where Mud
Creek empties into the Cedar River. Post office, 1852-56.

Evrx Run. In section 5, township 88, range 12, near the Cedar River,
some three miles southwest from the present town of Raymond. RPost
office, 1853-56.

Emerr. The original name of the present town of Dewar. Platted
in 1880.

Exerey. In southeastern part of Fox Township. Post office, 1861-63.

Ex~terrrise.  On the west line of section 16, Spring Creek Township.
Post oftice, 1853-81.

Fruxix’s Grove. Given by History of Black Hawk County, Western
Historical Co., 1878, as one of the post offices of the county, in opera-
tion from June to September, 1858, but not located on maps of that .
period. '

Frorexce Crry.  In section 35, Spring Creek Township, on the Cedar
River. Laid out in 1855, but plat not recorded. Town never built up.

Frexcnrow~. A name applied to the present town of Gilbertsville
in its beginning in 1856.

GreexvicLe. An ephemeral town in Spring Creek Township.

Gresitam.  On north line of section 12, Bennington Township. Post
office, 1885-89.

Jusnee. In southwestern part of section 26, Fox Township. Post
office, 1881-1919.

Kxox. The name of the post office at Gilbertsville for a short time
in 1855.

Lesrer.  In southwestern part of section 16, Lester Township. Post
office, 1856G-85.

Louise. In southwestern part of section 19, Big Creek Township.
Post office, 1893-1900.

Mrrer’s Creex.  In southwest corner of section 26, Eagle Township.
Post office, 1870-75.

Murrarky’s Grove. The original name of the present town of Ray-
mond.” Post office, 1858-61. :

Nawxrviie., In eastern part of section 8, Mount Vernon Township.
Post office, 1851-75.

Orrawa. Located northwest and adjacent to the present La Porte
"City. Plat filed in 1854. It was finally absorbed by La Porte City,
although the latter’s plat was not filed until 1855.

Sturees Farrs. The name applied from 1845 to 1849 to the settlement
that later became Cedar Falls.

Sturces Rapms. In northeastern part of Lester Township on the
Wapsipinicon River, as shown on maps of 1862-68. .

WarreN. In section 16, Spring Creek Township. The plat was filed
in 1855, but the town never appeared,
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BOONE COUNTY

Berie Pornt. In the north central part of Douglas Township. Post
office, 1850-57.

Booxr Starion. First name of the post office at Montana. Post
office, 1866-67. '

Boonsporo., The county seat of Boone County. It was located in
the northwest quarter of section 29, township 84, range 26, in 1851 and
the town laid out. It was a post office from 1853 to 190L. It was in-
cluded in and became a part of the incorporated city of Boone in 1892.

BooxeviLLe. In northern part of section 33, Des Moines Township,
just south of the corporate limits of the present city of Boone. A post
oftice was established there in 1850, but on the county seat being estab-
lished at Boonsboro it was removed to the latter place.

Brivcerorr. Shown on Parker’s map of 1856 in the northwest corner
of Grant Township.

CarsoN's Pornt. In section 9, Pilot Mound Township. Post office,
1859-63. ’

Cassapay’s Corners. In northern part ‘of section 4, Pilot Mound
Township. Post office, 1865-81.

CenTerviLLE. In the southeast corner of section 12, Yell Township,
on the west bank of the Des Moines River. Laid out in 1855. It was
prosperous, but only for a few years.

CoarLrow~. The original name of the town of Angus.

Coar Varrey. In section 2, Marcy Township, about a mile north-
west of Moingona. Laid out in 1867. A coal mining town.

Damy Crry. In section 4, Yell Township. Laid out in 1855, but
proved to be a town only on paper.

" ELk R,AP.IIIS. In northern part of section 34, Douglas Township, on
the east bank of the Des Moines River. A place of importance, having
a post office in 1850, and 150 inhabitants in 1855, but soon after that it
declined. For a few years afterward Elk Rapids was designated on the
west side of the river, as there was a small settlement there.

' Fumzr’s Poryr.  Shown as another name for Mineral Ridge on maps
of 1868 and 1869.

GarpeN. On south line of section 4, Garden Township. Post office,
1875-81. _

Garpexn Grove. Same location as Garden. Post office, 1873-75.

GrrFriN. In the western part of section 8, Harrison Township. Post
office, 1897-1900. )

Harmon’s Swrrcua. The present town of Jordan was called by this
name for a while.

Horxpuckrrs Porxr.  On west bank of Des Moines River about three
miles above Elk Point. Shown on maps from 1862 to 1868.

Huir, On the east line of section 19, Colfax Township, some two
miles northeast of the present town of Luther. Post office, 1873-75.

Incune. In section 23, Yell Township, on the Des Moines River.
A coal mining village. Post office, 1893-1900.
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Jenu. This post office is listed in the U. S. Postal Guide for 1885
as:being' in the county, but is not shown on maps.
Logansrorr. In section 14, Yell Township, on Des Moines River.
Shown on maps of 1905.
Mackey. A hamlet in the northwest corner of section 22, Harrison
Township. Post office, 1878-1903.
Mackey’s Grove. Same as above. Post office, 1871-78.
Marcy. In section 13, Marcy Township, about three miles southwest
of Moingona. Post office, 1863-67.
Mmway. The name given at first to the present town of Jordan.
- MiNeraL Rince. The name of the post office (1854-1903) at the vil-
lage of Ridgeport, which see below.
MoxnTana. The first name of the present city of Boone. It was laid
out in 1865 and the name was changed to Boone in 1871.
Papucan. In section 34, Union Township, as shown on maps of

1868=69.

Parkerssura. In the northwest quarter of section 2, Worth Town-
ship. Taid out in 1852. It never developed much beyond a country
hotel.

_ Pramie Hinr. In southwest corner of section 12, Peoples Township.
Post- office, 1859-85. '
Quixncy. In section 14, Marcy Townshlp Laid out in 1854. It never.

developed into a real village.

Rapms. In Douglas Township on the Des Moines River about three
miles northwest of Swede Point. Post office, 1851-61.

Rexwer. This post office is listed in the U. 8. Postal Guide from
1897 to 1900 as being in the county, but is not shown on maps.

Riceport. In eastern part of section 18, Dodge Township. Laid
out in 1854, and was a village of some importance for many years. Its.
post office, Mineral Ridge, see above. ‘

- Rrversoe. In section 12, Yell Township, near the west bank of the
Des Moines River. Post office, 1857-69.

Smrru’s Poixt, In section 4, Yell Township, as shown on maps of
1863-69.

Swepe PoiNt. In northeast corner of section 36, Douglas Town-
ship. Platted in 1851. Post office, 1857-80. The name of the town was
changed to Madrid in 1855. -

UxtonvitLe. In Union Township. Laid out in 1858, but never ma-
terialized, nor even got on the maps.

Wortn. In Worth Township, first in section 23, and later in three
. other locations in that part of the township without changing the name.

It ran from 1863 to 1869.

Youci. In section 21, Yell Township. Post office, 1861-69.

Zexorsvinie. In eastern part of section 12, Jackson Township. A
coal mining town of 400 people at one time, Post office, 1881-1900,
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BREMER COUNTY

ArresiaN. In southeast corner of Warren or northwest corner of
Maxfield Township. Post office, 1893-1903.

BreckeNringe. The name of the post office at Jefferson City. It was
established in 1857, and in 1863 its name was changed to Denver.

Bremer. In section 9, Dayton Township. Post office, 1858-61.

Bremer Cextrr. Platted in 1857. A small business place existed for
a few years. The post office was named Leroy, which see below.

Buck Creex. A post office that had at least two locations in Dayton
'J'ownship,.section 25, and later section 15. Its existence was from 1863
to 1903.

Dayron. In section 9, and later in section 6, Dayton Township.
Post office, 1861-70.

Dickey. In section 8, Douglas Township. Post office, 1885-93.

Eacre. Located first on line between sections 3 and 10, and later in
section 22, Franklin Township. Post office, 1865-69. -

Grove Hirrn. In section 15, Franklin Township. Post office, 1859-
1903. .

Horron. In sections 26 and 27, Polk Township. Piatted in 1856.
Quite prosperous until after the nearby railroad was built. Post office,
1857-1903.

Jackson Porwr. Listed in the U. 8. Official Register of 1855 as a
post office, but not found on maps of that period.

Jerrerson Crry.  Pioneer name of the present town of Denver. Laid
out in 1855. The post office at that place was named Breckenridge, which
see above.

Keyr. In section 19, Franklin Township. Post office, 1877-97.

Kringer. In the northeast corner of section 35, Maxfield Township.
Postoffice, 1889-1903.

Kx~rrrep.  In section 10, Fremont Township, on Rand, McNally &
Co.’s map of 1887, and in section 9, Maxfield Township, on Towa Pub-
lishing "Co.s map of 1905. Post office, 1889-1903.

Lerov. In section 13, Leroy Township. The post office for the village
of Bremer Center, which sece above. Post office, 1861-75.

MartiNseure.  The pioneer name of the village of Tripoli, which see
below.

Maxrrerp. In the northeast corner of section 19, Maxficld Town-
ship. Post office, 1865-1900.

MexTor. In section 1, Leroy Township. Post office, 1863-1900.

Mivkier. Listed in the U. S. Postal Guide as a post office from
1889 to 1908, but not shown on the maps of those dates.

Neurrar.  In the southeastern part of Jefferson Township. The first
post office in the county, and ran from 1849 to 1877.

ParcLiestoN. In section 25, Douglas Township. Post office, 1880-81.

‘Pork. First on the east side of the Cedar River, and later on the
west side in Polk Townshi_p. Post office, 1854-61,
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Poxv. In Douglas Township. Post office, 1885.

Roxie. In section 80, Douglas Township. Post office, 1893.

Swoer. In section 27, Douglas Township. Post office, 1889-97.

Serive Laxe. In section 17, Lafayette "Township. Post office, 1857-73.

Sum~er.  In section 11, Sumner Township. A post office was on that
location from about 1860 to 1870, when the present town of Sumner
was established two miles to the south and the post office removed to it.

Syracuse. In section 18, Polk Township. Post office, 1863-67.

TriroLr. The village was laid out in 1856 in the east part of section
33, Frederica Township. It prospered until 1880 when it was removed
almost bodily one mile south to its present location on the C. G. W.
Railroad.

Warsie. In the southwest corner of section 6, Franklin Township.
Post office, 1893-1903.

Wiuson’s Grovi. In the southern part of Sumner Township. Post
office, 1863-67.

BUCHANAN COUNITY

Atuanta.  In southern part of Newton Township. Post office, 1859-73.

Bucuanan. In southeast quarter of section 24, Buffalo Township. A
village on Buffalo Creek, platted in 1857. Its post office was named
Buffalo Grove.

Burraro Grove. The post office (1855-85) for the village of Bu-
chanan.

Caxa. In southeastern part of Cono Township. Post office, 1861-63.

CastLeviLie. On north line of section 36, and later on west line of
section 34, Buffalo Township. Post office, 1863-97. :

Cuarnam. The post office (1851-81) for the town of Littleton, which
see below.

Covrown. In the northeastern part of Hazleton Township. A ham-
let and post office mentioned in Williams’ History of Buchanan County
as having started in 1852.

Errv, In the northeast corner of section 12, Newton Township.
Post office, 1855-63.

Frink’s Grove. In section 19, Jefferson Township. A post office
from 1854 to 1861 when it was changed to Sunny Side, which see below.

GatesviLe. In section 18, Liberty Township. Post office, 1889-1900.

Greerey’s Grove. In section 11, Hazleton Township. Post office,
1854-57.

~“HamerviLLe. In section 33, Homer Township. Post office, 1897-1900.

Hazieron. This village began in 1853 in the southwestern part of
section 11, Hazleton Township, and flourished there until 1873 when the
B. C. R. & N. was built one mile west of it. Soon thereafter the town
was removed to the railroad.

IpLewiLp. A post office from 1889 to 1893 in the northeast corner °
of ‘section 29, Westburg Township.

Kier. In section 22, Fairbank Township. Post office, 1867-1900.

Lrrrierox. In sections 9 and 10, Perry Township. A busy village
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on the Wapsipinicon River founded in 1856. Its post office was named
Chatham from 1851 to about 1881 when it was changed to Littleton, but
was finally discontinued about 1910.

MmorLereLp. In the southwestern part of Middlefield Township.
Post office, 1885-1900.

MoxTr. In section 3, Newton Township. Post office, 1885-1900.

MupviLie. The local name applied, in an early day, to the village
of Buchanan.

NewronviLre, In section 16, Newton Township. Post office, 1871-
1900.

Orrervitie. In northeastern part of section 19, Washington Town-
ship, on Otter Creek. Platted in 1857. Sawmills and gristmills flour-
ished there. Post office, 1867-1909.

Pixe. In the northern part of Liberty Township. Post office, 1855-59.

Suavy Grove. In section 6, Jefferson Township. Post office, 1889-
1903.

Sux~yy Swe. In eastern part of section 19, Jefferson Township.
Post office, 1861-81.

VisTA. In-s"ection 26, Weﬁtburg Township. Post office, 1889-1903.

Warn’s Corners. In section 23, Madison Township. The pioneer
name of the present town of Lamont. Post office, 1863 to 1881 when
the name was changed to Lamont.

BUENA VISTA COUNTY

Braine. In section 26, Maple Valley Township. Post office, 1877-
1900.

Crozier. In western part of section 14, Grant Township. Post office,
1881-1900.

Eixron. In western part of Elk Township. Post oftice, 1893-1900.

Hrres Grove. In the northwest corner of Grant Township. Post
office, 1875.

Mavview, In northeastern part of Poland Township. Post office,
1881.

Mexorr. In section 34, Lee Township. Post office, 1871-85.

Nortran. Listed in U. S. Postal Guide of 1900 as a post office in
Buena Vista County, but not found on maps.

Orstanp. Listed in U. 8. Postal Guide of 1900 as a post office in
Buena Vista County, but not found on maps.

Peacx, In southwestern part of section 26, Grant Township. Post
office, 1881-97.

"Prunm. Listed in U. 8. Postal Guide of 1897 as a post office in Buena
Vista County, but not found on maps.

Racize. In section 34, Lincoln Township. Post office, 1881-1900.

Savre. Listed in U. 8. Postal Guide of 1893 as a post office in Buena
Vista County, but not found on maps.

Wesr Scorr. On the west line of Scott Township. Post office,
1877-97.
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BUTLER COUNTY

Arcovaquin. In southeastern part of Washington Townshlp Post
office, 1855-65.

Beaver Grove. In the southwestern part of Beaver Township. Post
office, 1855-517.

Bercrove. In the nortbeastern part of Bennezette Township. Post
office, 1869.

Bovrax’'s Grove. On the south line of section 14 and the north line
of section 28 of Pittsford Township. The post office existed from 1859
to 1875 when it was reovmed to West Point, nearly two miles east and
called Bristow. See West Point below.

Burrer Cexter. In the northern part of section 18, Jefferson Town-
ship. Platted in 1856, it became a town of importance and was the
county seat from 1860 to 1881. Post office, 1857-1900. .

- Bureter Rapms. In the northern part of section 9, Beaver Township,
on the West Fork of Cedar River. Platted in 1858. Had a busy but
brief existence.

Crurrervicre. On the south line of section 17, Madison Township.
Post office, 1893-97.

CorpwaTer. A post officc removed from Eranklin County in 1875 to
section 6, Bennezette Township, where it existed until 1885.

Firaxor. A hamlet and station formerly on the C. & N. W. Ry. in
central part of Monroe Township.

Ery Serings. Located a short distance south of the present town
of Greene and platted in about 1855. Its post office ran from 1857 to
1869 when it was transferred to Greene.

GeorarTowN, In the corners of West Point, Jackson, Rii)ley and
Jefferson townships in the geographic center of the county. It was
platted in 1857 and was intended to be the county seat, but never got
beyond being a town on paper.

Hrrrsvitie. In section 19, Ripley Township. Post office, 1871-1900.

IsLanp Grove. In section 35, Madison Township. Post office, 1858-68.

Lront. Listed in U. §. Official Register as a post office in Butler
County from 1855 to 1861, but not found on the maps.

Lowerr. In section 28, Butler Township, on the Shell Rock River.
Shown on the maps from 1881 to 1887,

Mavpnvitie. In the southeastern part of West Point Township and
about one-half mile west of the present town of Allison. Post office,
1878. '

Moxmourit. In section 17, Butler Township, about one mile east of
Clarksville, as shown on maps of 1869.

New Arsron. Located at the corners of sections 3 and 4, Albion
Township, and sections 33 and 34, Jefferson Township. Platted about
1856. It had several business enterprises. Its post office was named
Swanton, which see below.

New Jerusarem. The name first given Butler Rapids, which see
above.
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Prosper. In the northern part of section 10, Fremont ‘Township.
Post office, 1897-1900.

Roor’s Smixc. The former name of the present village of Packard.
Post office,.1889-1903. -

Swanton, The name of the post office (1857-1900) located about
four miles southeast of New Albion, which see above, and later in the
southeast corner of section 34, Jefferson Township, as shown on Andreas’
Atlas, 1875.

Uxnrox Rmce. In the northwest corner of section 20, Pittsford Town-
ship. Post office, 1881.

Wesr Pornt. The early name of the present town of Bristow.

WiLLoueney. In the western part of section 9, Beaver Township.
Laid out in 1856. Post office, 1857-85.

Witsox’s Grove. In section 15, Bennezette 'Township. Post office,
1878-80.

: CALHOUN COUNTY

BrookLy~. In sections 27 and 34, Lake Creek Township. Location
selected by commissioners in 1855 for the first county seat, and the
town staked off. The people by vote rejected the location, and no town
was built, but the place got on the maps of that date.

Burns. Listed in the U. 8. Postal Guide as a post office in Calhoun
County in 1897, but not found on the maps.

Cavwoux. In section 22, Union Township. Given on maps from
1880 to 1887. Post office, 1881.

Carnoun CeNtrr. In section 19, Center Township. It was a village
that aspired to be the county seat and appears on the maps in 1880,

Crawparr. Listed in U. S. Postal Guide as a post office in Cualhoun
County in 1897, but not found on maps.

Eaps. Located immediately east of the present town of Lohrville.
Laid out in 1882 and some improvements made, but lost in the race with
Lohrville.

Evx Grove. Listed in the U. 8. Postal Guide as a post office in Cal-
houn County in 1893 to 1897, but not found on the maps. R

Kissemmee.  Listed in the U. 8. Postal Guide as a post office in Cal-
houn County in 1893 to 1897, but not found on the maps.

Moscey. Former name of the present town of Sherwood.

Munpy. In section 3, Cedar Township. It grew to a small village.
Post office, 1893-97. The coming of the railroads to Somers ended
Muddy’s career, ’

Scronsere. Listed in the U. 8. Postal Guide as a post office in Cal-
houn County in 1893 to 1897, but not found on the maps.

Twin Laxes. In section 31, Sherman Township. Post office, 1867-89.

YaresviLLe. In section 22, Lincoln Township. Post office, 1867-69.
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CARROLL COUNTY

Bexax. In the northeast ocrner of section 3, Glidden Township.
Post office, 1893-1900.

Browninc. In section 12, Sheridan Township. Post office, 1871-89.

CarnorL Crry. The name applied to the present city of Carroll from
the time of its establishment in 1867 to about 1875.

CarrorrroN. In the southeast part of section 36, Pleasant Valley
Township, and the northeast part of section 1, Newton Township. It
was the first county seat of Carroll County from the county’s estab-
lishment in 1856 until 1867, and was a town of importance in those
days. Post office, 1859-1903.

CorrLin’s Grove. Slightly northwest of the central part of Union
Township, as shown on maps from 1863 to 1868.

Dirvipe.  Slightly north of the central part of Wheatland Township,
as shown on maps of 1878.

Evrea. In the northeast corner of section 16, Eden Township. Post
office, 1873-81.

Jasrer. In section 17, Jasper Township, on the North Coon River.
The U. 8. Official Register lists it as a post office in 1861 and it is car-
ried on the maps from 1860 to 1881.

Kerner. In section 21, Sheridan Township. A small village. Post
office, 1893-1900.

Macxks. In section 16, Pleasant Valley Township. Post office, 1869-71.

Nmes' Grove. In southeastern part of section 22, Union Township,
as shown on maps of 1868.

Roserie. The post office (1876-1900) at the village of Hillsdale,
which see above.

T Top. The name first given to the present town of Arcadia.

CASS COUNTY
Cass Center. In the northeastern part of section 13, Bear Grove
Township. Post office, 1875. '
Corp Srrings. The name of the post office at the town of Iranistan

(which see below) from 1851 to 1855. .

" Ep~a. In the central part of Edna Township. Postoffice, 1853-69.
Garron. In section 27, Bear Grove Township. Post office, 1880-1900.
Grove Crry. In the southwestern part of section 11, Grove Town-

ship, about three miles east of the present city of Atlantic. Platted in
1856. The coming of the railroad and the making of a station where
the city of Atlantic now stands, ended Grove City’s career. Post office,

1865-69. Its first post office was called Turkey Grove, which see below.

Gurrey. In section 5, Pymosa Township. Post office, 1865-69.

Hence’s Grove. In section 10, Union Township. Post office, 1859.

InpianrTown. Slightly northeast of the center of section 9, Cass
Township, and about one mile west of the present town of Lewis. Set-
tled by the Mormons in 1846.




ABANDONED TOWNS OF IOWA 453

IraNtstan. In the central part of section 8, Cass Township, about
two miles west of the present town of Lewis. Laid out in 1853, being
the first platted town of the county. Post office, 1855-57. Its post office
for a while was called Cold Springs. ]

Lura. In the southern part of Grant Township. Post office, 1855-65.

McDir,  In the central part of Victoria Township. Post office, 1877.

Newrox’s Grove. In the southwest corner of Union Township. Post
office, 1873-75.

Pymosa. In section 11, Pymosa Township. Post office, 1855-57.

Rexo. In the northeast corner of section 20 and the northwest cor-
ner of section 21, Edna Township. Platted as a town in 1876, Post
office, 1881-97.

Turkey Grove. The name first given to the post office at Grove City,
from 1857 to 1863, which see above.

WaxzreLo. In section 24, Atlantic (now Grove) Township, as shown
on maps of 1362.

Wax. Listed in the U. 8. Postal Guide as a post office in Cass Coun-
ty from 1893 to 1897, but not found on maps of those years.

Wiarxeyvinie.  In section 8, later in section 6, and again in section
16, Massena Township. Post office, 1861-85.

CEDAR COUNTY

Arorro. Listed in the U. 8. Official Register of 1859 as a post office
in Cedar County, but not found on maps of that period.

Axrtwere. In the southeast quarter of section 9, township 80, range
3, about three miles southwest of the present city of Tipton. Laid out
in 1839 and an aspirant for the county seat.

AvYRESVILLE. A hamlet in the northwest corner of section 6, Farm-
ington township. A

Bricxk House. Listed in the U. S. Official Register of 1867 as a post
office in Cedar County, but not found on maps of that period.

Carerox. A village platted in 1869, but now constituting a part of
the eastern portion of the town of West Branch.

Carvisie.  In section 20, Springfield Township. A village laid out
about 1853. Its post office was named Rosette, which see below.

Cenar. In the northwestern part of Massilon Township. Post office,
1855-63. .

Cepar River. In the northeastern part of section 33, Cass Town-
ship, on the west side of the Cedar River. Post office from 1841 to 1849
when the name was changed to Gower’s Ferry, which see below.

Cenar Varrey. In the northwest corner of section 19, Gower Town-
ship, near the west bank of the Cedar River. A village formerly the
loaction of extensive stone quarries. Post office, 1893 and still running.

Crssrorn.  In section 22, Fairfield Township. Post office, 1867-69.

Drnson's Frrry. Name first given to what is now the town of
Massilon.

EvrzaserarowN. At a point on the Cedar River a little below where
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the Cedar Valley stone quarries were later developed. Laid out in 1837
and an aspirant for the county seat.

Gower’s FErry. A post office formerly called Cedar River, which see
above. It had the name of Gower’s Ferry from 1849 to 1859 when it
was removed to the east side of the river and the name changed to
Cedar Bluff.

Harwerr. In section 4, Springfield Township. Post office, 1854-63.

Hoxey Grove. Listed in the U. S. Official Register as a post office
in Cedar County from 1855 to 1859, but not found on maps of that
period, but thought to have been in Gower Township.

Intanp. In the northeastern part of Inland Township. A trading
village of some importance. Post office, 1853-85.

Lacrizy. In eastern part of Sugar Creek Township. Post office,
1853-57.

Lme Crry. In castern part of section 16, Sugar Creek Township,
A town created because of the lime industry. Post office, 1897-1903.

Lrricow. In section 22, Springfield Township. Post office, 1861.

Lizarn. In the northwestern part of section 26, Springfield Town-
ship, as shown on maps of 1857.

Muxx. The early name applied to Lime City, which see above. Post
office, 1885-93.

Ox1ox Grove. In the northern part of section 14, Dayton Township.
Post office, 1857-61. From 1858 to 1861 the post office was in the present
town of Clarence, which was then called Onion Grove. Previously called
Union Grove, which see below.

Pepee. In section 4, Iowa Township. A hamlet about midway be-
tween Springdale and Rochester. Post office, 1861-89.

Proxeer Grove. In section 11, Pioneer Township. Post office, 1847-59.

Preasaxt Hrirr. In section 16, Sugar Creek Township. Post office,
1861-81.

Rep Oax. In the northeastern part of Red Oak Township. Post
office, 1857-67.

Rocx Creex. The pioneer name of the posf office at the town of
Rochester from 1837 to 1854, when it took the name of the town.

Rock Porxt. The original name of the post office at the present town
of Massilon. Listed as such in 1854.

Roserre. The name of the post office at the town of Carlisle (1855-
69), which see above.

Swirom. In the northeastern part of Red Oak Township. Post office,
1871-89. .

Swe Hirr. Listed in the U. 8. Official Register as a post office in
Cedar County in 1861-63, but not found on maps of that period.

Svcar Creex. Post office, 1885. Formerly called Sugar Creek Mills,
which see below.

Suear Creex Mmrs. In the southern part of Sugar Creek Town-
ship. Post office, 1875-81. ’
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UnioNn Grove. Post office, 1854, Name changed to Onion Grove,
which see above.

Warpex. In eastern part of Red Oak Township. Post office, 1897.

‘Warsaw. In the southwestern part of section 34, township 81, range
3, about three miles west of the present city of Tipton. Laid out in
1837 and an aspirant for the county seat.

Woobsringe. In the southeastern part of section 32, Center Town-
ship. Post office, 1847-69.

Yankree Grove. In section 29, Pioneer Township. Post office, 1853.

York Pramir. In section 6, Inland Township. Post office, 1863-71.

Zoar. In section 19, Gower Township. Post office, 1865-71.

CERRO GORDO COUNTY

Baru. Near the center of Bath Township. Post office, 1867-69.

Crear Laxe Crry. In the southcastern part of Clear Lake Town-
ship, on the southeastern shore of Clear Lake. Post office, 1857-61.

Corpwarer. Near the southeast corner of Dougherty Township. Post
office, 1889-97.

Creamery. In central part of Lincoln Township. Post office, 1889-
1900.

Gexeseo. In the northern part of Geneseo Township. Post office,
1861-69. .

Lime Creex. Listed in U. 8. Official Register as a post office in
Cerro Gordo County from 1869 to 1871, but not found on maps of that
period.

Lixw. In the northern part of Geneseo Township. Post offiec, 1861.

Livonta. In section 18, Lake Township. This location, a short dis-
tance east of the east end of Clear Lake, was made the county seat in
1857, and a town began to grow up, but the county seat was taken
away the next year.

Mason1c Grove. The pioneer name of Mason City.

Owex. In central portion of Owen Township. Post office, 1889-1900.

Owex’s Grove. Near the southwest corner of Portland Township.
Post office, 1857-71.

Rock. Near the northwest corner of Lincoln Township. Post office,
1863-89.

SueLr, Rock Faris. Post office, 1857-71. The pioneer name of the
present Rock Falls.

CHEROKEE COUNTY

Baum. In section 33, Sheridan Township. Post office, 1897,

Bram Crry. About one mile northeast of the business section of the
present city of Cherokee. Platted in 1869 in expectation of the Illinois
Central depot being located there.

Crrroxee. The old town of Cherokce in sections 22 and 23, Chero-
kee Township, about two miles northeast of the business section of the
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present city of Cherckee. Platted in 1857. The post office was estab-
lished in 1861 and a block house for protection against the Indians was
erected in 1862.

Cneroxkre CeNtErR. In east part of section 28, Cherokee Township,
in the western part of what is now the city of Cherokee. Platted in
185G. It became a town on paper only.

CouisoN, In the center of Diamond Township. Post office, 1893-97.

De Lrox. In section 10, Silver Township. Post office, 1885,

East Hameron. In southern part of Silver Township. Post office,
1871.

Hazarp. The former name of the present town of Meriden. Post
office, 1869-75.

Mapre. In the northern part of Afton Township, as shown on maps
of 1878.

New Crerokee. The original name of the present city of Cherokee.
Platted in 1870.

Pror Rock. In section 16, Pilot Township, but soon removed to
section 33. Platted in 1859. Post office, 1867-85.

WenpeLL. In central part of Willow Township, as shown on maps
of 1887.

CHICKASAW COUNTY

Beaver City. A post office, 1859-61, first located on section 4, Day-
ton Township, three miles west of the northwest corner of the present
city of New Hampton.

Bravrorn. In the south part of section 9 and the north part of sec-
tion 16, Bradford Township, two miles northeast of the present town
of Nashua. It was the first county seat of Chickasaw County, holding
it from 1854 to 1857. The home of the Little Brown Church. Post office,
1853-94.

Bovn. A prosperous village with railroad station and post office, in
southern part of New Hampton Township, started in the early 1880
and abandoned about 1920.

Curickasaw. In section 21, Chickasaw Township. Platted in 1854
and an important town for several years. Post office, 1855-1903.

Cuickasaw Cenxter. The original name of the present city of New
Hampton.

Cuickasaw Station. The original name of the present town of Ionia.

Dacre.  In the northern part of Utica Township. Post office, 1863.

Davron Cexrtrr.  In Dayton Township. Post office, 1863.

DeerFieLn.  In section 4, Deerfield Township. Post office, 1857-1903.

DrespeN. In section 1, Richland Township. Post office, 1900-03,

Foresr Crry. A village in the eastern part of Richland Township.
It was for a time in 1858 the county seat of the county. Its existence
was brief. '

Greexwoon. In the northwestern part of Bradford Township, as
shown on maps of 1868 and 1869,
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Ixpiantoww. In the northern part of Richland Township, as shown
on maps from 1856 to 1862.

JacksoNviiLe. A village of importance in section 24, Jacksonville
Township. Post office, 1857-85.

Jerico. In the southwest corner of section 24, Jacksonville Town-
ship. Post office, 1889-1903.

Lrrree Turkey. In section 23, Utica Township. Post office, 1867-
1903.

MapLeviiLe. Somewhat northeast of the center of Stapleton Town-
ship. Post office, 1857-59.

Maxsen. In section 10, Jacksonville Township. Post office, 1897-
1903.

Repupric. In the northeast corner of section 20, Richland Town-
ship. Post office, 1889-1910.

Saupe. In section 20, Utica Township. Post office, 1881-1914.

StapreroN. In the southeastern part of Stapleton Township. Post
office, 1857-81.

Wavupexa. In the northern part of New Hampton Township, as
shown on maps of 1857 to 1862.

‘WrriamstrowN. A village in the northeast corner of section 13, Rich-
land Township. Post office, 1859-1903.

Zerro. In the central part of Utica Township. Post office, 18G3.

CLARKE COUNTY

Baraxa. Listed in the Towa State Gazateer of 1865 as a post office
in Clarke County, but not found on maps of that period.

Barrrerrviiie. In section 19, Franklin Township. Post office, 1853-
59.

Forger. Listed in the U. 8. Postal Guide as a post office in Clarke
County from 1893 to 1897, but not found on maps of that period.

Freenorp. Listed in the U. 8. Official Register of 1855 as a post
office in Clarke County, but not found on maps of that period.

Grenn’s. In the southeastern part of Franklin Township. Post office,
1851-65.

GreeN Bav. A village on the south line of section 30 and the north
line of section 381, Green Bay 'l'ownship. Post office, 1863-93.

Hicxory Grove. In the northern part of Liberty Township, as shown
on maps from 1855 to 1862.

Hrickory Porxt. In the northwestern part of Liberty Township, as
shown on maps from 1855 to 1856,

Jack Creex. Listed in the U. §. Postal Quide of 1893 as a post
office in Clarke County, but not found on maps of that period.

JacksoxviLLe. A village in the southeast corner of section 24, Lih-
erty Township, as shown on maps of 1875.

La Haree, Listed in the U. 8. Official Register as a post office in
Clarke County in 1877 and 1878, but not found on maps of that period.
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Larorre. In section 2, Madison Township. Post office, 1855-69.

Mimprerorr. Listed in the U. S. Postal Guide of 1889 as a post office
in Clarke County, but not found on maps of that period.

Murorn. In the northwestern part of Troy Township. Post office,
1855-69.

Norris, In the northwestern part of Troy Township, as shown on
maps of 1855,

NorroxviLLe. A village in the southwestern part of section 18, Fre-
mont Township. Post office, 1871-75.

Oaxranp. Listed in the U. 8. Official Register of 1869 as a post
office in Clarke County, but not found on maps of that period.

Otrawa. In the eastern part of Jackson Township. Post office, 1855-
78.

Pramie Grove. A village on the east line of section 5, Washington
Township. Post office, 1853-97.

Ricey. Shown at different periods, first in the northwestern part of
Knox Township, in the eastern part of Doyle Township, and later in
the southeastern part of U'roy Township. Post office, 1859-69.

SuerLny’s. Near the southwest corner of Green Bay Township. Post
office, 1857-67.

Saryrxa,  In the northwestern part of section 20, Franklin Town-
ship. Post office, 1865-1900.

Warre Breasr. Near the western border of Green Bay Township.
Post office, 1851-57.

CLAY COUNTY

Axxievinee, In the southeastern part of section 12, Lincoln Town-
ship. Post office, 1871-1900. :

Brorwarer. In the southeastern part of Lake Township, as shown
on maps from 1873 to 1887.

Crark. The first name given to the present town of Everly. Platted
as Clark in 1884 and listed as Clark in the U. 8. Postal Guide from 1885
to 1897.

Cromwerr Cenrter.  Slightly west of the central part of Summit
Township. Post office, 1875-1990.

Dovcras Cexrtrr. In section 24, Douglas Township. Post office,
1871-75. -

FreemaN., In the northeast corner of section 18, Sioux Township.
Post office, 1871-75.

Heroranp, In section 14, Herdland Township. Post office, 1881-97.

IncLevicie. In the northern part of Clay Township. Post office,
1875.

Prarr. Listed in the U. 8. Postal Guide as a post office in Clay
County from 1893 to 1897, but not found on maps of that period.

Proseect.  In the northwestern part of Meadow Township, as shown
on maps from 1873 to 1885.

Suaarr.  In section 24, Summit Township. Post office, 1875.
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TrimeLLo. In section 6, Clay Township. Post office, 1875-1900.

Witow Creek. In section 36, Clay Township. Post office, 1871-1900.

Yaxkee. In the north central part of Peterson Township. Post
office, 1881-1900.

CLAYTON COUNTY

AxnpersoN. In the southern part of Melville Township. Post office,
1863-65.

BisMarck. A town in section 6, Farmersburg Township. Platted in
1875. Post office, 1873-1900.

Brookvirre. In the northeast corner of Mendon Township, as ap-
pears on maps from 1835 to 1862.

Cass. Listed in the U. S. Official Register as a post office in Clayton
County from 1857 to 1859, but not found on maps of that period.

Ceres. A hamlet in the southern part of Garnavillo Township. Post
office, 1863-93.

Cormuxnia. In the northwest corner of scction 18, Volga Township.
Post office, 1855-1900. Still has a store and public hall.

Couxcrt. Hrur. In the northeast corner of section 11, Giard Town-
ship. Post office, 1855-85.

Cox Creex. In the western part of Cox Creek Township. Post office,
1857-75.

Exrero. The name given the railway station at Strawberry Point
when the road was built in 1872, but soon changed to the name of the
town on order of the Railroad Commission.

Farnrerseure.  (See National.)

Fraxxrorn. Immediately below the junction of the Turkey and
Mississippi rivers, as shown by maps of 1854.

Frankrin, The original name of the present town of Strawberry
Point.

Frencutown. A hamlet in Clayton Township on the Mississippi
River near where stands the present town of Clayton. It was a landing
and shipping point at the beginning of the settlement of that region.

Gem. In section 2, Marion Township. Post office, 1859-85.

Giarn. A town in the northwestern part of section 35, Giard Town-
ship. Platted in 1871. The post office was established in 1854. The
coming of the nearby railroad created another village to the north now
called by the same name. A few residences remain in the old town.

Graxp Meanow, The former name of the present railroad station
and village of Ridley.

Haroiv. In the northwest corner of section 6, Monona Township.
Partly in Allamakee County, which see.

Hexperso¥ Pramie. In the northwestern part of Grand Meadow
Township. Post office, 1865-69.

Hicwu Grove. Listed in the U. S. Official Register as a post office in
Cldyton County from 1855 to 1860, but not found on maps of that period.

Hicnranp. A small hamlet near the western part of Highland Town-
ship. Post office, 1855-1900.
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Hoxey Creek. In the northern part of Ledomillo Township. Post
office, 1857-6G3.

Jerrerson. The former name of a village in section 30, Millville
Township, laid out in 1852, now appearing on maps as Graham,

Jacksonvinie. ‘The former name of the present town of Garnavillo.
It was laid out in 1844, and the name changed to Garnavillo in 1846,

Keergroy. In the northeastern part of Clayton Township on the
Mississippi River about two miles above Clayton. Platted in 1848.

Locusr Hiin, Listed in the U. 8. Official Register as a post office
in Clayton County in 1859, but the name is not found on maps of that
period. .

Lonominio. Listed in the U. 8. Official Register as a post office in
Clayton County from 1853 to 1855, but the name not found on maps of
that period.

McGreeor's Laxmwe. The original name of the present town of
McGregor.

New Stanp. In the eastern part of Elk Creck Township. Post office,
1853-63.

Norru McGrrcor. Former name, previous to 1915, of the present
town of Marquette. ’

Paxruer Creek. Listed in the U. 8. Official Register as a post office
in Clayton County from 1853 to 1861, but the name is not found on
maps of that period.

Pecx’s Ferry, Near the north boundary of Mallory Township, on
the Turkey River. Post office, 1857-59.

Pramie La Porre. The name of a town which later became a part
of the present town of Guttenburg. Tt was laid out in 1839 and became
the first county seat of Clayton County. It was a post office from 1841
to 1843,

Reap. The name of the post office at the town of Clayton Center.
Its existence was from 1857 to 1900.

Sarnt Jouan., Former name of the present town of Mederville.

Sieer. Near the northwest corner of Read Township. Post office,
1863-73. :

SpriNgFIELD. A town in the southeastern part of section 4, Grand
Meadow Township. Platted in 1869.

SerineviLLE. A village in the northeastern part of Millville Town-
ship, about one mile west of Turkey River Station as shown on maps
of 1875 and 1889.

Svivax. In the eastern part of Cass Township. Post office, 1854-57.

Uepbecrarr.  In section 19, Mallory Township. Post office, 1881-1903.

Wanasaa. Listed in the U. 8. Official Register as a post office in
Clayton County from 1843 to 1845, but the name not found on maps of
that period.

WaceNer. Near the northwest corner of Wagner Township. Post
office, 1859-93.
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Warsox. In section 5, Giard Township. Post office, 1885-1908.
Wixnsor. The former name of the present town of Farmersburg.
Ya~nkee Serrnement. The original name of the present town of
" Edgewood.

CLINTON COUNTY

Buirsory. In the southeast corner of section 14, Grant Township.
Post office, 1900-03.

Booxr Serincs. In section 5, Deep Creck Township. TPost office,
1850-71. :

BrookrieLn,  Slightly north of the central part of Bloomfield Town-
ship. Post office, 1861-78. On the coming of the railroad the name of
the village and post officc was changed to Delmar.

Buena Visra. In the eastern part of the southern section 8, Olive
Township. Post office, 1849-1914.

Burcess. Name of the post office (1855-85) at the village of Smiths-
town, which see.

Camsringe. In section 5, Spring Rock Township, as shown on maps
of 1856.

Cuerey Woon. In the southern part of section G, Center Township.
Post office, 1853-55. ’

ELx Rrver. In the castern part of the east section 13, Elk River
Township. Post office, 1843-71.

HauntowN. The name of the village where was located Elk River
Post Office. For years the village maintained a store, mill, distillery,
ete.

Lyons. A village platted in 1837, which grew into a city, and in
1894 was included in the northern portion of the city of Clinton.

Mean. The name of a post office from 1874 to 1875 at the present
railroad station of Midland Junction.

New York. The pioneer name of the present city of Clinton. It
appears as New York on maps from 1834 to 1854.

Oraxge. In the southwestern part of Orange Township. Post office,
1861-75.

Qacrey. Name of the post office (1885-1900) at the present village
and railroad station of Petersville.

Ramessa. In the southwestern part of De Witt Township. Post
office, 1859-67.

Rixgwoon. A town located between Lyons and Clinton, platted in
1856, and now included as a part of the city of Clinton.

SaxwsorNTON. In the northeast corner of section 34, Liberty Town-
ship, on the banks of the Wapsipinicon River, as shown on the Black
Hawk Purchase map, 1834.

S»rrastrowx. A village in section 17, Sharon Township, before the
coming of the railroad into that township. The name of its post office
was Burgess, which see.

Serive Rock. In the southwestern part of Spring Rock Township.
Post office, 1841-63,
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Surrork. Pioneer name of the post office of Elvira, being listed as
Suffolk in 1854.

Vaxpenpure. The pioneer name of the present city of De Witt,
and the one which it bore only about a year, from May, 1841, until
February, 1842.- '

Vorranmova. Listed in the U. 8. Postal Guide as a post office in
Clinton County from 1885 to 1893, but not found on maps of that
period.

Werroy. In section 3, Welton Township. A village founded in 1850,
consisting of a colony of Fnglish artisans. It existed only a few years.
The present Welton is over a mile south of the original one.

CRAWFORD COUNTY

BeLn, or Berrzown. A former station and hamlet on the C, M. &
St. P. Ry. in section 34, Paradise Township.

Bover River. The pioneer name of the present town of Deloit.

Como. In section 3, Charter Oak Township, as shown on maps from
1878 to 1887.

CooN Grove. In the northeast corner of Washington Township. Post’
office, 1875.

Crawrorn. The pioneer name (1855) of the settlement later called
Dowville, and which finally became the present Dow City.

HonexzorLery., In  section 23, Morgan Township. Post office,
1893-97.

JounsoxvinLe. In the southwestern part of Stockholm Township.
Post office, 1900-03.

Kmron. In the northwest corner of section 7, Stockholm Township.
Founded about 1867. The coming of the railroad to that vicinity in
1899 caused the building of the present town of Kiron one mile west
of the first Kiron, which eventually ended the life of the old village.

Lypra. The former name of the post office at the present town of
Arion.

- Moreaxw. In the southwestern part of Otter Creek Township. Post
office, 1877-93.

Orrer Creex., In section 31, Otter Creek Township, as shown on
maps of 1881.

Paravise. In section 5, Union Township. Post office, 1863.

. DALLAS COUNTY

Arton. A hamlet at the west edge of the site of the present city
of Perry. Post office, 1859-69.

Booxs. According to the maps this post office, which existed under
that name from 1853 to 1869, occupied locations in different parts of
Boone Township, but finally came to the site of the present village of
Booneville.

Brovon. In section 9, Lincoln Township. Post office, 1873-97.
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Cuatraxooca. In the south central part of Adams Township. Post
office, 1857-G7.

Curcaco. Near the southeast corner of Washington Township, as
shown on maps of 1862-1878.

Eruesus. In section 19, Washington Township, as shown on maps
of 1887,

Famrraxn. In section 16, Grant Township. Post office, 1881.

Garway. In the southeastcrn part of Union Township, as shown on
maps of 1857, ’

Greexvare. In the northern part of Linn Township. Post office,
1859-97. :

Harvey Mmuis. A post office in Linn Township in 1881,

Laxgrrre, Listed in the U. 8. Postal Guide of 1893 as a post office
in Dallas County, but not found on maps of that period.

Lax~. A post office in Linn Township in 1881.

McKay. A post office from 1851 to 1855 when the name was changed
to Wiscotta, which see.

New Ireranp, A name applied in an early day to the present town
of Redfield.

Norpykre. In the southeastern part of Boone Township. Post office,
1869-75.

Osprey. Listed in the U. 8. Postal Guide of 1881 as a post office in
Dallas County, but not found on maps of that period.

Pantuer. In the northern part of Colfax Township. Post office,
1885 to 1903. Previous to 1885 it had run a few years as Panther Creek.

Pexoacn. The name given to the site selected in 1847 for the county
seat of Dallas County, a location in the eastern portion of the present
town of Adel. It was a village for two years before the name was
changed to Adel, and was listed as a post office in 1849 as Penoach.

Pierce Point. In the western part of Sugar Grove Township. Post
office, 1859-G9.

S~xvper. In section 26, Des Moines Township. Post office, 1859-81.

Tracey. Listed in the U. S. Official Register of 1869 as a post office
in Dallas County. It is the present town of Van Meter.

Uw~cre Saw. Listed in the U. 8. Official Register of 1855 as a post
office in Dallas County, but not found on maps of that period. .

Wiscorra. In sections 4 and 5, Union 'T'ownship, about one mile
south of the present town of Redfield. It was platted and was for a
few years a prosperous village. Post office, 1855-61.

XenN1a. A platted village on the west line of section 4, Des Moines
Township, about one and one half miles east of the present town of
Woodward. Post office, 1861-81.

(To be continued)
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